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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No. 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v.        
 
$65,119.00 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY, 

 
Defendant. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE IN REM 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 
The United States of America, by and through Acting United States Attorney 

Robert C. Troyer and Assistant United States Attorney Laura B. Hurd, pursuant to 

Supplemental Rules for Admiralty, Maritime and Asset Forfeiture Claims G(2), states:  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. The United States of America (the AUnited States@) has commenced this 

action pursuant to the civil forfeiture provisions of 21 U.S.C. ' 881, seeking forfeiture of 

defendant property based upon violations of 21 U.S.C. ' 801 et seq.  This Court has 

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. '' 1345 and 1355. 

2. Venue is proper under 21 U.S.C. ' 881(j) and 28 U.S.C. ' 1395, as the 

defendant property is located, and some of the acts described herein occurred, in the 

District of Colorado.  
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DEFENDANT PROPERTY 

3. Defendant property is more fully described as: 

a. $65,119.00 in United States Currency, (defendant “$65,119.00”) 

seized on May 5, 2016, at 11266 Clay Court, Westminster, Colorado.  Defendant 

$65,119.00 is currently being held by the United States Marshals Service, Denver, 

Colorado. 

FACTUAL BASIS FOR FORFEITURE 

Except as otherwise noted, all of the following facts and information have been 

discovered through my own investigation and observations, and the observations and 

investigations of fellow law enforcement officers as reported to me: 

4. On May 2, 2016, the North Metro Task Force received an anonymous tip 

regarding the strong smell of marijuana coming from 11266 Clay Court in Westminster, 

Colorado.   

5. On May 5, 2016, detectives with the North Metro Task Force went to the 

home located at 11266 Clay Court and while outside the house smelled the strong odor 

of fresh marijuana.   

6. The detectives knocked on the door and a male, identified as Jason Koch, 

answered the door.  The detectives told Jason Koch they had received a complaint about 

the smell of marijuana coming from the residence.   

7. The detectives told Jason Koch they wanted to make sure that any 

marijuana grow operation at the residence was legal.  Jason Koch stated he understood, 
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but said that the home belonged to his brother, identified as Timothy Koch, and that he 

was not home at that time.   

8. The detectives asked Jason Koch who lived in the home.  Jason Koch 

stated that both he and Timothy Koch lived in the home and had been living at the 

residence for a few months. The detectives told Jason Koch he did not have to allow the 

law enforcement agents into the home, but that they just wanted to make sure the 

marijuana grow was legal.   

9. Jason Koch agreed and led the detectives into the basement of the home.  

Once in the basement, the detectives observed dozens of vacuum-sealed bags and 

Ziploc bags with freshly cut marijuana inside.  The bags were spread all over the 

basement and many of the packages were stored in large cardboard moving boxes.  The 

detectives also saw a table with a scale, a vacuum sealer, and empty plastic bags.  The 

detectives estimated that each bag weighed about one to three pounds and there were 

approximately 50-75 pounds of packaged marijuana in the basement.   

10. The detectives asked Jason Koch what the marijuana was for and he initially 

responded that it was for personal use.  Jason Koch admitted a short time later that the 

marijuana was actually being sold by Timothy Koch.  

11. The detectives asked Jason Koch where he was from. Jason Koch 

responded that he was from Nebraska and that he had just moved to Colorado two 

months earlier after Timothy Koch asked him to come work for him.  Jason Koch also 

told the detectives that Timothy Koch has a property management company.   
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12. The detectives asked if any of the houses maintained by Timothy Koch were 

marijuana grow houses or other places of marijuana distribution.  Jason Koch said he 

thought two of the houses contained marijuana grow operations.  The detectives asked 

Jason Koch about the moving boxes full of marijuana.  Jason Koch responded that 

people he does not know, would drive to the residence in trucks and the boxes of 

marijuana would be loaded into the trucks.   

13. The detectives asked if the marijuana was going out of the state of Colorado 

and Jason Koch replied, “I think so.”  Jason Koch went on to say that Timothy Koch is 

the one running the operation and has all the contacts, so he does not have much 

information about the distribution of the marijuana.  Jason Koch told the detectives that 

he was being paid $20.00 an hour by Timothy Koch to package the marijuana.   

14. The detectives asked Jason Koch if he would provide written consent to 

search the rest of the house.  Jason Koch agreed and signed a written consent form.  

The detectives asked Jason Koch which bedroom was his and which was Timothy Koch’s.  

Jason Koch indicated to the detectives that the bedroom on the right was his.  Jason 

Koch confirmed that he shared the remainder of the living areas with Timothy Koch.     

15. While looking briefly around the home, detectives saw a large mixing bowl 

with a thick black liquid of marijuana concentrate weighing around two pounds in the 

kitchen.  On the table with the bowl, were dozens of what appeared to be e-cigarette 

cartridges and it appeared that the concentrate was in the process of being loaded into 

the e-cigarette cartridges.    
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16. Inside the garage, a large clear Rubbermaid container was on top of a deep 

freezer.  The Rubbermaid container was filled with marijuana trimmings.  The freezer 

was filled to the top with individual bags of marijuana that weighed approximately one-

half to three pounds each.  Total weight of the marijuana was estimated to weigh in 

excess of 100 pounds. 

17. Detectives then sealed the residence and applied for a search warrant 

before continuing the search.  During a protective sweep of the residence to make sure 

there were no other persons inside the home, detectives observed a cash counting 

machine and a stack of United States currency bound with rubber bands sitting on a night 

stand inside Timothy Koch’s bedroom.  There were several smaller stacks of money and 

loose bills on the table and also a large plastic bag containing the same rubber bands 

that bound the stack of bills.   

18. As the detectives were preparing to leave the home, an individual pulled 

into the driveway in a gray Audi sedan and exited the car.  The driver was contacted and 

acknowledged that he was Timothy Koch and that he was renting the home.  The 

detectives told him they were there because of the marijuana and asked if he wanted to 

speak with investigators. Timothy Koch declined. 

19. A Colorado state search warrant was executed at 11266 Clay Court, 

Westminster, Colorado, the residence of Timothy Koch and Jason Koch.  During the 

search, officers seized 278 pounds of marijuana, 2.57 pounds of marijuana concentrate, 

defendant $65,119.00 in United States currency, a money counting machine, several 
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computers and paperwork that indicated that Timothy Koch had other residences and 

cultivation operations.   

20. Jason Koch agreed to speak with detectives and stated that Timothy Koch 

sells marijuana to individuals from Nebraska.  Every three to four weeks, a white Toyota 

pickup with Nebraska license plates drives to 11266 Clay Court and 60-120 pounds of 

marijuana is loaded into the truck inside the garage and then the truck leaves for 

Nebraska.   

21. Jason Koch stated that after the marijuana is picked up, Timothy Koch 

leaves shortly afterward and drives to Nebraska as well.  Timothy Koch then returns a 

few days later with $80,000.00 to $120,000.00, and some of the money is then kept in a 

safe in the residence.   

22. Jason Koch said Timothy Koch has three to four grow operations in different 

houses around the Denver area.  The marijuana is stockpiled at 11266 Clay Court and 

eventually transported to Nebraska.  Jason Koch also stated there are several people 

that Timothy Koch knows who have their own grow operations from which Timothy Koch 

also purchases marijuana.     

23. The Audi Sedan driven by Timothy Koch was registered to Phillip Bailey 

(Bailey), who resides at 11265 Clay Court, Westminster, Colorado, directly across the 

street from Timothy Koch’s residence.    

24. Jason Koch stated Bailey has a large cultivation operation in his home and 

that he frequently works trimming marijuana plants for Bailey.  Jason Koch described 
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Bailey and Timothy Koch as business partners and the marijuana grown in Bailey’s home 

is stored at Timothy Koch’s house and then transported to Nebraska for sale.   

25. As detectives approached 11265 Clay Court to speak with Bailey, they 

noticed a strong odor of marijuana coming from the residence.  When Bailey was 

informed of the odor of marijuana, he gave detectives consent to search the residence. 

26. Inside the residence, the detectives observed a large marijuana grow 

operation with approximately 300 marijuana plants, 24.89 pounds of dry marijuana, 46.10 

grams of marijuana concentrate, approximately $3,500.00 in United States currency and 

several bank deposit receipts for amounts ranging from $8,000.00 to $11,000.00.  Bailey 

told the detectives that he had no license for the grow operation.   

27. Based on the information received from the execution of the search warrant 

at 11266 Clay Court, Colorado, Colorado state search warrants were executed at three 

additional locations. 

Search of 5915 East 124th Way, Thornton, Colorado 

28. On May 5, 2016, Detectives executed a search warrant at 5915 East 124th 

Way, Thornton, Colorado.  Jason Koch had told agents that 5915 East 124th Way was 

owned by Timothy Koch and is currently being used to grow marijuana.  Jason Koch also 

stated that the residence is occupied by an individual named Ray, who is paid by Timothy 

Koch to stay at the residence and cultivate the marijuana.   

29. During the search of 5915 East 124th Way, agents found 34 marijuana 

plants, 3.25 pounds of dry marijuana, and marijuana extraction equipment.  Agents also 
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found documents, one of which was a rejection letter from the Medical Marijuana Registry 

to Timothy Koch.   

Search of 3079 134th Place, Broomfield, Colorado 

30. On May 5, 2016, Detectives executed a search warrant at 3079 134th 

Place, Broomfield, Colorado.  Detectives made contact with Zach Carrol and Jacob 

Carrol the two occupants of the residence.   

31. Detectives spoke briefly with Zach Carrol (Carrol), who stated the home was 

his and admitted the cultivation operation was not legal, but would not give an explanation 

of what he was doing with the marijuana.  Carrol was asked if he knew Timothy Koch 

and he stated they were friends, but denied providing him marijuana.   

32. During the search of 3079 134th Place, detectives found 219 marijuana 

plants and 18.14 pounds of dry marijuana. 

Search of 5501 CR 13 Dacono, Colorado 

33. A search warrant was executed at 5501 CR 13 Dacono, Colorado, a 

warehouse that contained a marijuana grow operation that belonged to Timothy Koch.  

A search of this location revealed 85 marijuana plants, and 35.9 pounds of dry marijuana.   

34. At each search, paperwork was recovered that associated Timothy Koch 

with each residence or warehouse.  From paperwork collected during the search of 

11266 Clay Court, there were various papers and folders for what seemed to be different 

marijuana-related businesses that had been started by Timothy Koch or were in the 

planning stages, along with folders on various properties and homes that were for sale.  

This included a rental contract and a real estate purchase contract for 5501 CR 13, which 
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Timothy Koch had purchased and was seller financed . 

35 . Between the five locations searched , investigators seized 360 .78 pounds of 

dry marijuana, 2 .67 pounds of marijuana concentrate , 638 marijuana plants. and 

defendant $65,119.00 . 

36 . As a result of the marijuana grow operations , Timothy Koch was charged in 

Adams County, Colorado with marijuana cultivation , marijuana d istribution 25 to 50 

pounds , possession of marijuana with intent to distribute 25 to 50 pounds , manufacturing 

marijuana concentrate , and marijuana conspiracy , in criminal case 2016cr1559. 

37. A nationwide search of the Department of Labor records revealed Timothy 

Koch has reported income of $16 ,500.00 in 2015 and $14 ,600 .00 in 2016 all from Smile 

Labs . a company registered to Timothy Koch . 

38 . In summary , there is reasonable cause to believe that the T imothy Koch is 

involved in illegal marijuana cultivation and distribution of marijuana. 

VERIFICATION OF RAYMOND PADILLA 
TASK FORCE OFFICER, DRUG ENFORCEMENT ADMINISTRATION 

I, Task Force Officer, Raymond Padilla . hereby state and aver under the pains and 

penalties of perjury that I have read the foregoing Factua l Basis for Forfeiture and that 

the facts and information contained therein are true. 

Raymond Pae-ttl~ 
Task Force Officer - DEA 

9 
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STA TE OF COLORADO 

COUNTY OF }jrtl.Dtt.bo-e. 
I 

) 
) ss 
) 

The foregoing was acknowledged before me this /J./fJ'iday of February, 2017 by 

Raymond Padilla , Task Force Officer, Drug Enforcement Administrat ion . 

dku ~ 
Notary Publ ic - Colorado 
My Commission Expires : C./15@~18' 

,,, ,.;OU: C. DAVIDSON 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

STATE OF COLORADO 
: IIOTARY ID 19984016359 

F IRST CLAIM FOR 'R1±UEFA1SS'ON EXPIRES JUNE 15, 2018 

39 . The Plaint iff repeats and incorporates by refere nce the parag raph s above . 

40 . By the foregoing and other acts , defendant $65 ,119.00 cons ti tutes or was 

derived from proceeds traceable to an exchange of controlled substances , in violation of 

21 U.S .C. § 801 , et seq. , and therefore , is forfeitab le to the United States pursuant to 21 

U.S.C . § 881(a)(6) . 

WHEREFORE, the Un ited States prays for entry of a fina l order of forfeiture fo r the 

defendant property in favor of the Un ited States , that the United Sta tes be auth orized to 

dispose of the defendant property in accordance w ith law , and that the Cou_rt en ter a 

finding of probable cause fo r the se izu re of the defendant property and issue a Cert if icate 

of Reasonable Cause pursuant to 28 U.S .C . § 2465 . 

10 
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DATED this 16th day of February, 2017. 
 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       ROBERT C. TROYER 
       Acting United States Attorney  
       
         By: /s Laura B. Hurd        

 Laura B. Hurd 
       Assistant United States Attorney 
       1801 California Street, Ste. 1600 
       Denver, Colorado 80202 
       Telephone: (303) 454-0100 
       Fax: (303) 454-0402 
       E-mail: laura.hurd@usdoj.gov  
       Attorney for Plaintiff 
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 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 
 
Civil Action No. 
       
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
$65,119.00 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY. 

 
Defendant. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ORDER FOR WARRANT FOR ARREST OF PROPERTY IN REM  
  
 

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on the United States’ Verified Complaint 

for Forfeiture In Rem, and the Court being fully apprised, FINDS that the Court has 

jurisdiction over the following defendant assets, that there is probable cause to believe 

the defendant assets are subject to forfeiture, and that a Warrant for Arrest of the 

following defendant assets should enter: 

a. $65,119.00 in United States currency. 
 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Clerk of the Court shall enter a Warrant 

for Arrest of Property In Rem and that the United States Marshals Service and/or any 

other duly authorized law enforcement officer is directed to arrest and seize the above-

referenced defendant assets as soon as practicable, and to use whatever means may 

be appropriate to protect and maintain it in your custody until further order of this Court. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the United States shall post notice on an official 

internet government site for at least 30 consecutive days, stating that all persons 
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claiming or asserting an interest in the defendant assets must file a Claim and an 

Answer to the Complaint with the Court, and serve copies of same to the Assistant 

United States Attorney, to the addresses listed below: 

Clerk of the United States District Court 
901 19th Street 
Denver, Colorado 80294 

Laura B. Hurd 
Assistant United States Attorney 
United States Attorney’s Office 
1801 California Street, Ste 1600 
Denver, Colorado 80202 

 
  

SO ORDERED this ____ day of _____________________, 2017. 

       BY THE COURT: 
 
 
 
       _____________________________ 
       United States District Court  

Judge/Magistrate Judge 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No. 
       
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
$65,119.00 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY. 

 
Defendant. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

WARRANT FOR ARREST OF PROPERTY IN REM 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
TO: UNITED STATES MARSHALS SERVICE AND/OR ANY OTHER DULY 
AUTHORIZED LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER:  
 
 PURSUANT to the Order for Warrant for Arrest of Property In Rem issued by this 

Court, YOU ARE HEREBY COMMANDED TO ARREST AND SEIZE as soon as 

practicable, the following defendant asset described in the Verified Complaint for 

Forfeiture In Rem filed herewith, and to use whatever means may be appropriate to 

protect and maintain it in your custody until further order of this Court: 

a. $65,119.00 in United States Currency. 
 

 
 DATED this        day of ______________, 2017. 

       JEFFREY P. COLWELL 
       Clerk of the U.S. District Court 
 
  
          By:  _____________________________ 
                 Deputy Clerk 
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Jury Demand.  Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

Date and Attorney Signature.  Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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